FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
6/1/2023 4:53 PM
No. 102055-4

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/1/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 56890-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# ENGLISH FARM LLC and JENNIFER ENGLISH WALLENBERG,

Appellants,

VS.

# CITY OF VANCOUVER,

Respondent.

JLL, HP Inc., JENNIFER BAKER, MARIAN ENGLISH-HUSE, and DON JENNINGS,

Respondents.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

(Filing Party Listed on Next Page)

Stephen W. Horenstein, WSBA #6183
Maren L. Calvert, WSBA #53940
Schwabe, Williamson & Wyatt, P.C.
700 Washington Street, Suite 701
Vancouver, WA 98660

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

English Farm LLC and Jennifer English Wallenberg (collectively the "Winery") ask this Court to review the Court of Appeals, Division II opinion terminating review in this case.

### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed its unpublished opinion terminating review in this case on May 2, 2023. A copy of the "Opinion" is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-22.

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When reviewing a decision by a city that is required to plan under the Growth Management Act ("GMA"), may a court affirm that city's land use development application decision:

1. By stretching the "general conformity" standard of review beyond comprehensive plans and plan amendments – as recited in *Woods v*. *Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007) and *Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board*, 176 Wn. App. 555, 309 P.3d 673 (2013), respectively – and extending it to land use development regulations, without analyzing the development regulations' expressly stated compliance requirements?

2. If the city imposes a land use condition of approval that authorizes serial State Environmental Policy Act ("SEPA") reviews, which are otherwise prohibited by *King County v. Washington State Boundary Review Board*, 122 Wn2d 648, 860 P2d 1024 (1993)?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The English family has owned and operated a farm in Section 30 of Vancouver Township, Clark County, Washington for more than 100 years. Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 636, 1840; Opinion at A-2. The English family now grows grapes and makes and sells wine on that farm. CP 1509; Opinion at A-6.

In 2008 and 2009, the City adopted the Section 30 Urban Employment Center subarea plan (the "Subarea Plan") as part of its Comprehensive Plan and adopted Vancouver Municipal Code (VMC) chapter 20.690 to implement it. CP 20, 857-930. Relevant portions of the VMC are provided at Appendix pages C-1 and D-1 through 17.

Master planning is mandatory for all Section 30 developments. *See* Appendix at C-1 (VMC 20.440.020(D), and also D-1 and D-5 (VMC 20.690.010 & .050)); Opinion at A-2.

The Subarea Plan identifies the Winery as a "key property" that "is important to the character of the overall [Section 30] development and provides an aesthetic amenity to the community." Opinion at A-2 to A-3; CP 867, 875, 885, 911.

HP Inc. proposes to build 1.5 million square feet of buildings and roughly 30 acres of parking lots immediately adjacent to the Winery. CP at 770, 800; Opinion A-13.

HP's archaeologist acknowledged that the Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation recommends the Winery be included on the National Register of Historic Places. CP 1521; Opinion at A-4. HP reassured the City that its development will have "no effect, directly or indirectly, to English Farm," because "development proposed in the Master Plan is to be conducted below the elevation of [the Winery]." CP 1772. *See also* Opinion at A-4 ("[p]lanned development is 40

to 50 feet below the adjoining properties") (citing HP's SEPA checklist). Accordingly, HP's archaeologist stated "no further archaeological work is recommended." CP 1772.

Based on these representations, the City issued HP a preliminary Determination of Nonsignificance ("DNS"). CP 1129; Opinion at A-5.

HP's Master Plan, dated November 3, 2020, illustrated 15 buildings, east and northeast of the Winery, that are up to 93 feet tall. CP 770, 800, 1720. HP's Master Plan also illustrated four large parking lots due north of the Winery's vineyard. *See id*.

The Winery objected that the Master Plan was inconsistent with the SEPA checklist and the proposed development may harm the Winery and its vineyard. Opinion at A-5, A-15, A-16.

Over the Winery's objections, the City Council approved HP's Master Plan, imposing two relevant conditions of approval requiring future HP site plans to:

1. Demonstrate compliance with the provisions of VMC 20.690 and all applicable sections of the Section 30 Plan and Design Guidelines as modified

by the 2019 Development Agreement and provided in the Master Plan.

2. Show compliance with the Master Plan SEPA checklist or amend or submit a new SEPA checklist to include any unexpected impacts or project changes.

### Opinion at A-7 to A-8.

The Winery timely appealed, arguing (among other things) that HP's Master Plan did not contain the information required by VMC 20.690.050(B)(7), (B)(12), (C)(1), and (C)(4)(i). *See e.g.* Opinion at A-6 (the Winery "argued HP's master plan did not substantively analyze...the Section 30 requirements for a master plan").

The Opinion affirms the City's approval, noting that a "proposed land use decision need only generally conform to the comprehensive plan." Opinion at A-10 *citing Spokane County v. E. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrg's Bd.*, 176 Wn. App. 555, 574-75, 309 P.3d 673 (2013); *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 613, 174 P.3d 25 (2007).

The Opinion then finds HP's Master Plan "generally conform[s]" to the City's development regulations because letters HP wrote six months after publishing its Master Plan and oral testimony of HP's attorney more than two years after HP published the Master Plan contained analyses of impacts on neighboring land owners (as is required in a master plan by subsection (B)(7)). Opinion at A-4 (HP's Master Plan, dated November 3, 2020); *id.* at A-14 to A-15 (citing May 2021 letters and January 2023 testimony).

The Opinion also holds that HP's testimony at a public hearing on May 17, 2021, sufficiently addressed economic impacts on the Winery (as is required in a master plan by subsection (B)(12)). Opinion at A-6.

The Opinion does not analyze VMC 20.690.050(B)(7), (B)(12), (C)(1) or (C)(4)(i) and does not address the Winery's objection that those development regulations require the missing information to be  $\underline{in}$  the Master Plan itself.

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case squarely meets three criteria for this Court's discretionary review under RAP 13.4. The Opinion contains erroneous interpretations of the GMA and SEPA that: (1) conflict with decisions of this Court; (2) conflict with a published Court of Appeal decision; and (3) involve issues of substantial public interest that should be resolved by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), & (4). The Opinion also is not supported by substantial evidence and reflects a clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts. RCW 36.70C.130(1)(b), (c), and (d).

Although the Opinion is unpublished, Washington State Court General Rule ("GR") 14.1 allows parties to cite it and allows Washington appellate courts to rely upon it "as necessary for a reasoned opinion." GR 14.1 (a) and (c). As such, this Court's review and reversal of the Opinion is crucial to ensure the errors in the Opinion do not improperly influence future courts, litigants, and municipalities.

1. May a court affirm a city land use decision by stretching the "general conformity" standard of review beyond comprehensive plans and plan amendments — as recited in <u>Woods</u> and <u>Spokane County</u> respectively — and extending it to land use development regulations, without analyzing the development regulations' expressly stated compliance requirements?

The Court should accept review of Issue #1 under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), & (4) because it improperly interprets and extends *Woods* and *Spokane County* and because this Court previously held "the purposes of the GMA and the implementation of that act by local government" are "unquestionably" "serious" issues of "public importance." *King County v. Wash. State Boundary Review Bd.*, 122 Wn.2d 648, 668, 860 P.2d 1024 (1993), hereinafter "*King County*."

(a) The Opinion Conflates GMA Terms, Causing it to Misapply Woods and Spokane County

In the Opinion, Division II erroneously concluded the City "adopted the Subarea Plan as part of its comprehensive plan under new chapter 20.690 of the Vancouver Municipal Code

(VMC)." Opinion at A-2. This conclusion misapplies the GMA. It treats the Subarea Plan and VMC chapter 20.690 as synonyms. They are not.

The GMA requires certain cities to adopt generalized land use policy statements called comprehensive plans. RCW 36.70A.030(5) & .040(3). *See also* RCW 36.70A.080(2) (comprehensive plans may contain a subarea plan).

The GMA also requires cities to adopt land use controls called "development regulations" to implement their comprehensive plans. RCW 36.70A.030(8) & .040(3); WAC 365-196-800(1) ("Development regulations ... implement comprehensive plans.").

Because VMC chapter 20.690 *implements* the Subarea Plan (CP 20) it is *not* the same thing as the Subarea Plan and the legal analyses and standards of review for the two are different.

As this Court held in *Woods*, "a proposed land use decision must only generally conform, rather than strictly conform, to the comprehensive plan." 162 Wn.2d at 613, *citing Citizens for* 

Mount Vernon v. City of Mount Vernon, 133 Wn.2d 861, 873, 947 P.2d 1208 (1997) (hereinafter "Mount Vernon") and Viking Props., Inc. v. Holm, 155 Wn.2d 112, 126, ¶ 31, 118 P.3d 322 (2005). This is because "[a] comprehensive plan does not directly regulate site-specific land use decisions." Id. (Citations omitted). "Instead, local development regulations" do. Id. (Citations omitted).

WAC 365-196-800(1) confirms the word "implement" in this context has "a more affirmative meaning" than merely being "consistent with" the comprehensive plan. *Id.* The word "connotes not only a lack of conflict but also" requires the regulation to be sufficiently scoped "to fully carry out the goals, policies, standards and directions contained in the comprehensive plan." *Id.* 

Given that a comprehensive plan is a policy statement and development regulations are supposed to implement and control development consistent with that guidance, development regulations are typically more prescriptive. Thus, if a court is faced with "conflicts between a general comprehensive plan and a specific zoning code," the court must enforce the specific zoning code. *Mount Vernon*, 133 Wn.2d at 874. *See also* RCW 36.70A.030(8) (zoning ordinances are development regulations).

Division II's erroneous conclusion that the Subarea Plan (part of the City's comprehensive plan) and VMC chapter 20.690 (development regulations) are the same thing, therefore, caused it to inappropriately extend *Woods* beyond this Court's ruling and contrary to the basic tenants of the GMA, outlined above.

The Opinion also erroneously extends the holding in *Spokane County* beyond that Court of Appeals Division III's express intent. *See* Opinion at A-10. In *Spokane County*, Division III held that a comprehensive plan or development regulation amendment need only generally conform to the comprehensive plan. 176 Wn. App. at 574-575. In so doing, the court expressly analyzed the distinction between appeals of comprehensive plan and development regulation amendments and appeals of specific land use or "project permit" applications.

Id. at 572. The former are appealed under the GMA to the Growth Management Hearings Board. The latter are appealed under the Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA") to the superior courts. Both the substantive and the procedural analyses are different. Id.

As explained below, the Opinion's failure to recognize these distinctions caused it to extend both *Woods* and *Spokane*County farther than either issuing court intended, to a disastrous effect.

# (b) <u>The Opinion Allows Municipalities to Disregard</u> <u>GMA Planning Requirements</u>

The Legislature adopted the GMA in 1990 because "uncoordinated and unplanned growth," poses a threat to "sustainable economic development...and [the] high quality of life enjoyed by residents of this state." RCW 36.70A.010. The GMA requires certain cities to adopt development regulations to implement comprehensive plan goals and to "control land use development." RCW 36.70A.030(8) & .040.

Here, to avoid uncoordinated and unplanned growth in the newly annexed Section 30, the City chose to expressly require all developers to submit a master plan "prior to all development." CP 892 (Subarea Plan Policies MS-2 and MS-3); Appendix at A-28 (VMC 20.690.050(A) ("[a]n approved master plan…is required…to ensure development is consistent with the [Subarea Plan]")), and at A-23 (VMC 20.440.020(D) ("[m]andatory master planning" is required "to ensure" developments are "well-integrated")); Opinion at A-3, A-11.

The City's development regulations then provide a list of analyses and information each master plan "shall" contain in VMC 20.690.050(B). *See also* Appendix at D-5 to D-6 (VMC 20.690.050(A) ("[a]n approved master plan *as described herein* is required") (emphasis added), at D-7 (VMC 20.690.050(C)(1) (requiring compliance with "this chapter" as a criterion of master plan approval)).

Specific to this case, VMC 20.690.050(B)(7) and (B)(12) require all Section 30 master plans to analyze and mitigate

impacts on neighboring properties and demonstrate consistency with Subarea Plan policies. Appendix D-6.

The Opinion does not identify any pages of the HP Master Plan that satisfy these requirements. Instead, the Opinion concludes HP "generally conformed with VMC 20.690.060(D)(1)" (an undisputed section relating to full site utilization plans) and "generally conformed to the…related provisions of the VMC." Opinion at A-14, A-15. *See* Appendix D-8 to D-9 (VMC 20.690.060(D)(1))

Rather than cite to pages of the Master Plan, the Opinion cites to HP's May 4 and May 17, 2021 letters (nearly six months after publishing the Master Plan) and HP's oral argument before Division II, more than two years after publishing its Master Plan as evidence that HP "generally conformed" to the requirement that it analyze impacts of its development on the Winery. Opinion at A-14, A-15.

The Opinion acknowledges Subarea Plan land use policy LU-21 requires developers to "[e]ncourage the preservation and

economic vitality of the English Vineyard and Winery," but does not analyze or decide whether HP's declaration in the Master Plan that LU-21 is "not applicable" adequately demonstrates consistency with policy LU-21, as required by subsection (B)(12). Opinion at A-11; Appendix D-6 (VMC 20.690.050(B)(12)).

Instead, the Opinion looks outside the Master Plan to HP testimony at a public hearing, to find HP "generally conformed" with the requirement to consider the preservation and economic vitality of the Winery. Opinion at A-6 to A-7.

These findings are inadequate. The Opinion's misapplication of the "generally conforms" standard of review caused it to ignore the express development regulation requirement that all master plans "shall" contain the information required by subsections (B)(7) and (B)(12). Under the GMA, the word "shall" requires compliance; "shall" means the same thing as "must." WAC 365-196-210(32).

The error is not a matter of form over substance. In the future, the City will review HP's site plans for consistency with HP's approved Master Plan. *See* Appendix at D-6 and D-8 (VMC 20.690.050(B)(8) and (D)(1)(a)(ii)). If the required analyses of impacts on neighboring properties, and mitigation for those impacts, and consistency with the Subarea Plan are not *in the Master Plan*, that review is pointless. The opportunity to ensure the developments are "well-integrated," "fair to all," and "fit[] well with [] neighbors" will be lost. CP 891; Appendix at C-1 (VMC 20.440.020(D)) and D-1 (VMC 20.690.010).

### (c) Condition of Approval #1 Does Not Solve Anything

The City and Division II contend condition of approval #1 resolves these concerns because <u>it</u> requires site plans to demonstrate compliance with VMC chapter 20.690. This argument proves too much.

VMC chapter 20.690 does not regulate the content of site plans or require them to analyze their impacts on neighbors. It only requires site plans to be consistent with the approved master plan.

Because the required information is not in the approved Master Plan, perhaps the City will have to review HP's future site plans for consistency with HP's May 4, 2021, May 17, 2021, and January 24, 2023 letters and oral statements? That seems unwieldy.

The Court should accept review of Issue #1 because it erroneously interprets the GMA, causing it to extend this Court's decision in *Woods*, and Division III's published decision in *Spokane County* beyond their intended boundaries. The result interferes with municipalities' proper implementation of the GMA.

2. May a court affirm a city decision that imposes a land use condition of approval authorizing serial SEPA reviews, which are otherwise prohibited by this Court's decision in <u>King County</u>?

The Court should accept review of Issue #2 because: (a) the Opinion erroneously concludes the Winery waived any SEPA appeal, contrary to the express holding of *King County*; (b) the Opinion erroneously uses land use law to circumvent controlling SEPA authorities; and (c) the Opinion's clear errors interfere with the integrated implementation of the GMA and SEPA by local government.

# (a) The Opinion Erroneously Concludes the Winery Waived any SEPA Appeal

The Opinion finds the Winery "challenged the approval of the HP master plan in superior court under...[LUPA, the GMA] and SEPA"). Opinion at A-8.

Nevertheless, the Opinion concludes the Winery waived all SEPA appeals because it failed to exhaust administrative remedies by not appealing the City's DNS before the "SEPA appeal deadline expired." Opinion at A-16.

The Opinion fails to acknowledge this Court's ruling in *King County* which is directly on point. In that case, appellants claimed King County had not appealed the DNS and therefore,

had waived all SEPA appeals. This Court rejected the argument, explaining there is no separate SEPA appeal process. 122 Wn2d. at 659. "[W]ithout exception," RCW 43.21C.075(6)(c) expressly requires SEPA appeals to "be made in conjunction with an appeal of the underlying government action." *Id.*; RCW 43.21C.075(6)(c).

This Court analyzed whether the notice of appeal must specifically identify the DNS. The Court said no. *King County*, 122 Wn2d. at 660. Where the notice of appeal mentioned SEPA and the parties had "fully briefed, argued, and decided" the validity of the DNS during the proceedings below, the notice of appeal served its purpose. It adequately notified the parties of the issues on appeal and the DNS was "properly before this Court for review." *Id*.

The same facts are present here. As discussed above, the Opinion finds the Winery "challenged the approval of the HP master plan in superior court under...SEPA." Opinion at A-8. The parties have fully briefed and the courts have fully analyzed

the sufficiency of HP's SEPA checklist and the City's SEPA condition of approval #2. Opinion at A-4, A-5, A-7, A-15, A-16, A-18. There is no doubt all parties and all courts have had notice the Winery raised a SEPA challenge.

Furthermore, as explained below, at least two of the City's SEPA-related decisions on appeal were not final at the time the City issued its DNS. The City entered its final decisions (a) finding the Master Plan met SEPA requirements (as required by VMC 20.690.050(C)(4)(i)) and (b) imposing a SEPA-related condition of approval #2 when the City approved the Master Plan at least five months later. Those decisions violate this Court's directive regarding serial, snowballing, SEPA analyses, as outlined in *King County*.

# (b) <u>The Opinion Improperly Authorizes Snowball</u> <u>SEPA Analyses, which King County Prohibits</u>

There is no dispute that under SEPA "parts of proposals that are related to each other closely enough to be, in effect, a single course of action shall be evaluated in the same

environmental document." WAC 197-11-060(3)(b). Proposals are considered to be "closely related" if they "[a]re interdependent parts of a larger proposal and depend on the larger proposal as their justification or for their implementation." WAC 197-11-060(3)(b)(ii).

Each of HP's future site plans are an "interdependent part" of HP's Master Plan. They must be evaluated for consistency with the Master Plan and they could not be approved without HP first securing City approval of HP's Master Plan. *See* Appendix at D-5 (VMC 20.690.050(A) ("[a]n approved master plan…is required prior to development")), D-6 and D-8 ((VMC 20.690.050(B)(8) and (D)(1)(a)(ii)).

There is also no dispute that, while phased environmental reviews are sometimes permissible, phased review is inappropriate if it divides a development plan into "exempted fragments" or "avoid[s] discussion of cumulative impacts" of the various site plans. WAC 197-11-060(5)(d)(ii).

Phased review is also inappropriate when it segments and avoids "present consideration of proposals and their impacts that are [otherwise] required to be evaluated in a single environmental document." WAC 197-11-060(5)(d)(ii).

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