FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/30/2023 2:41 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102055-4

(Court of Appeals No. 56890-0-II)
IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

English Farm LLC and Jennifer English Wallenberg,
Appellants,

v.

City of Vancouver, JLL, HP Inc., Jennifer Baker, Marian English-Huse, and Don Jennings,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS CITY OF VANCOUVER'S AND HP INC.'S JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jennifer M. Bragar, WSBA #46070 Tomasi Bragar DuBay 121 SW Morrison St., Suite 1850 Portland, OR 97204 (503) 894-9900 Of Attorneys for Respondent HP Inc.

Daniel G. Lloyd, WSBA #34221
Assistant City Attorney
P.O. Box 1995
Vancouver, WA 98668
(360) 487-8500

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Review can only be granted under the criteria specified in RAP 13.4(b), and any issues or claims not in the Petition are deemed abandoned.

As to any issue absent from the petition—including Petitioners' claim that the City is liable for breach of contract—those arguments are deemed abandoned. *Sargent v. Seattle Police Dep't*, 179 Wn.2d 376, 401, 314 P.3d 1093 (2013) (Court will not consider any error absent from petition for review).

As to the issues raised, Supreme Court review is justified in limited circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). Contrary to Petitioners' assumption, whether "[t]he Opinion ... is [or is] not supported by substantial evidence and reflects a clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts" is irrelevant to whether review in this Court is justified. Pet. at 6. Rather, to warrant this Court's review, Petitioners must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' unpublished Opinion "is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court," "is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals," or is "an issue of substantial public interest

that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(4). As shown below, the Petition falls short of these demanding standards. Review should be denied.

- B. The issues raised in the Petition are inadequate for review under RAP 13.4(b).
 - 1. Petitioners fail to identify any conflict with any decision of this Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioners point to two published decisions in a failed effort to claim a precedential conflict exists, but their petition confirms no conflict exists. Petitioners first point to, *Woods v*. *Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007), asserting the Opinion "inappropriately extend[s] *Woods* beyond this Court's ruling and contrary to the basic tenants [sic] of the GMA..." Pet. at 11 (Underlined emphasis added). Petitioners advance the same argument with respect to *Spokane County v*. *E. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrg's Bd.*, 176 Wn.App. 555, 309 P.3d 673 (2013), arguing the "Opinion... erroneously extends the holding of *Spokane County* beyond that Court of Appeals Division III's express intent." *Id*. (Underlined emphasis added). Notably,

the Petition does not identify any *conflict* with *Woods* or *Spokane*County, instead positing only a conclusory and unsupported contention the Opinion "extend[s] both *Woods* and *Spokane*County farther than either issuing court intended..." Pet. at 12.

An unpublished Opinion's alleged "extension" of an earlier, published decision is not a recognized basis for Supreme Court review. RAP 13.4(b).

A review of both *Woods* and *Spokane County* confirms no conflict exists. *Woods* held site specific rezones are subject to the superior court's subject matter jurisdiction under LUPA, and that the Growth Management Act ("GMA") does not apply directly to site specific rezones. *Woods*, 162 Wn.2d at 612-613. Somewhat analogously, *Spokane County* held a comprehensive plan amendment combined with a site specific rezone was properly before the GMA's regional hearings board because the rezone application would not have been authorized under the then-existing comprehensive plan. *Spokane County*, 176 Wn.App. at 562, 572.

Both cases include analysis of the same proposition: how to interpret whether the comprehensive plan is implemented in a land use decision. Significantly, both cases hold that the comprehensive plan is a guide to making land use decisions, and general conformance is all that is required. Woods, 162 Wn.2d at 613, Spokane County, 176 Wn.App. at 574. The latter principle stems from Barrie v. Kitsap County, 93 Wn.2d 843, 613 P.2d 1148 (1980), in which the Court upheld a rezone because it "generally conform[ed] with the plan." *Id.* at 849. The Court of Appeals rightly applied this 43-year old principle of law to the facts before it in this case. Petitioners' unsupported argument that the result below creates a "disastrous effect" is without merit. Pet. at 12. Put simply, there is neither a distinction, nor a conflict between the Opinion and any Washington appellate decision. Thus, the Petition should be denied.

///

2. The Opinion is correctly reasoned and supported by the law and record, given the high level of deference owed the City Council in determining consistency with and implementation of the comprehensive plan.

The structure of chapter 20.690 VMC is consistent with the Court of Appeals' understanding of the manner in which the Subarea Plan is referenced in the approval criteria. The Subarea Plan is part of the City's comprehensive plan. *English Farm*, slip op. 2.⁴³

⁴³ While the Opinion may have more accurately stated that the implementing regulations for the Subarea Plan were also adopted, the Opinion is correct in its statement that "Chapter 20.690 VMC implements and adopts the Subarea Plan..." *English Farm*, slip op. 3. The VMC adopts the Subarea Plan in various places,

VMC 20.690.030(B): "The zone designations and overlay enable development in accordance with the adopted policies of the Section 30 Employment Center Plan."

VMC 20.690.040(G)(1): "Collector arterial roadway alignment shall be consistent with the conceptual roadway alignments shown in the Section 30 Employment Center Plan document."

VMC 20.690.040(G)(2): "Connections to streets that border Section 30 Plan District shall be substantially as shown in the Section 30 Employment Center Plan

Where the question before the City Council is whether the HP Master Plan "implements" the comprehensive plan under VMC 20.690.050(C)(1)⁴⁴, the Opinion's reliance on *Spokane* County v. E. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrg's Bd., 173 Wn.App. 310, 333, 293 P.3d 1248 (2013), case is correct. *English Farm*, slip op. 10-11. The City Council is the elected body tasked with weighing and balancing competing comprehensive plan policies, particularly when the plan itself is premised on flexibility to achieve the desired employment goals in the Subarea Plan.⁴⁵ English Farm, slip op. 2 and 11.

document."

In addition, VMC 20.690.050 contains many references to "consistency with the Section 30 Employment Center Plan." Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly references Ordinance No. M-3930 that adopted the City's Planning Documents and had full access to the ordinance. English Farm, slip op. 2, accord Brief of Resp't HP, Appx. A-2 (containing CP 597-630, 1993).

⁴⁴ VMC 20.690.050(C)(1) requires a finding that, "The Master Plan implements the Section 30 Employment Center Plan and requirements of this chapter."

⁴⁵ Flexibility in the Subarea Plan policies and Design Guidelines is described at length at CP 1993-1996, and Brief of Resp't HP, pp. 8-12.

Once more the Petition echoes the failed argument before the City Council, and lower courts—if Petitioners desired to make particular Subarea Plan policies mandatory during Master Plan review, the appropriate time to challenge the Subarea Plan content or implementing regulations was at adoption in 2009.⁴⁶ *Woods*, 162 Wn.2d at 613-614. Similarly, Petitioners' first time mention of WAC 365-196-800(1),⁴⁷ applicable only at the time of adoption of chapter 20.690 VMC, should have been raised in a challenge back in 2009, not in this review. *Id.* Petitioners' disguised challenge to the adequacy of chapter 20.690 VMC

4.

⁴⁶ English Farm, slip op. 2.

⁴⁷ WAC 365-196-800(1):

[&]quot;(1) Development regulations under the act are specific controls placed on development or land use activities by a county or city. Development regulations must be consistent with and implement comprehensive plans adopted pursuant to the act.

^{&#}x27;Implement' in this context has a more affirmative meaning than merely "consistent." See WAC 365-196-210. 'Implement' connotes not only a lack of conflict but also a sufficient scope to fully carry out the goals, policies, standards and directions contained in the comprehensive plan."

cannot be achieved through its Petition. *Id.* at 615.

Even assuming arguendo, Petitioners timely made their argument, they attempt to draw an artificial distinction between the deference owed the elected body in amending the comprehensive plan, and the Code provision here that requires a finding by the City Council that the HP Master Plan implements the Subarea Plan (i.e. the comprehensive plan). This is a distinction without a difference, when the City Council is charged with balancing competing Subarea Plan policies to determine whether implementation has occurred. As in *Spokane* County, 173 Wn.App. at 333, here the City Council is required to examine the policies in total and in the flexible context within which the Subarea Plan operates to determine that in fact, the HP Master Plan implements the Subarea Plan. Petitioners make no argument about why the weight of competing goals and policies as a fundamental planning responsibility assigned to the local government should be abrogated in this unpublished case. The Petition should be denied on that failure alone.

Moreover, this Court's understanding of the role of local development regulations as a means to carry out the goals of the comprehensive plan has been well-settled since *Woods*, 162 Wn.2d at 613. The City's Code provides for approval with conditions, and HP Master Plan Condition of Approval 1 fully ensures that the goals set forth in the comprehensive plan are achieved, as all applicable Subarea Plan and Design Guideline sections will be reviewed at site plan approval,

"1. Demonstrate compliance with the provisions of VMC 20.690 and all applicable sections of the Section 30 Plan and Design Guidelines as modified by the 2019 Development Agreement and provided in the Master Plan." 48

The Court of Appeals made no error in looking to substantial evidence in the entire record to support the City's decision, and its understanding that Condition of Approval 1 will apply at site plan review to require findings against the applicable Subarea Plan policies is correct. *English Farm*, slip op. 9, citing

21

⁴⁸ CP 1038, 2452.

Phoenix Dev. Inc. v. City of Woodinville, 171 Wn.2d 820, 828-829, 256 P.3d 1150 (2011); see also English Farm, slip op. 12-14.

3. Petitioners' waived review as to the second issue related to SEPA review.

Petitioners' second issue presented for review challenges the Court of Appeals' determination that they waived their argument "[t]hat the City's decision violated SEPA and the City should have withdrawn its DNS." *English Farm*, slip op. 16. The Opinion reached this conclusion based on the unremarkable proposition that "[a] plaintiff alleging noncompliance with SEPA must exhaust administrative remedies before filing suit." *CLEAN v. City of Spokane*, 133 Wn.2d 455, 465, 947 P.2d 1169 (1997), *cited and followed in English Farm*, slip op. 16. Undisputedly, Petitioners never appealed the City's DNS. *English Farm*, slip op. 16.

Nevertheless, the Petition contends the Court of Appeals' conclusion conflicts with *King County v. Washington State*

Boundary Review Board, 122 Wn.2d 648, 860 P.2d 1024 (1993). Not only is there no conflict, *King County* supports the conclusion reached below.

At issue in *King County* was the county's Boundary Review Board's approval of two proposed annexations by the City of Black Diamond. Id. at 652-653. The City, Board, and various landowners appealed the superior court's decision directly to this Court, arguing in part that the county had waived its ability to challenge Black Diamond's DNS by "not specifically includ[ing the DNS] within the *notice of appeal to* the Superior Court." Id. at 659-660. (Emphasis added). This Court rejected that argument, noting that the "notice of appeal contained a general claim that the Board had failed to comply with SEPA." Id. at 660. But significantly, King County had properly exhausted its administrative remedies by "appeal[ing] the DNS to the Black Diamond City Council." *Id.* at 657.

Unlike King County, Petitioners did not do so. *English Farm*, slip op. 16-17. Petitioners had full notice and opportunity

to review the HP Master Plan SEPA Checklist, comment on the same, and appeal the City's DNS.⁴⁹ VMC 20.790.230(B), 20.790.440(D), 20.790.640(G), RCW 43.21C.075(4), WAC 197-11-340(2)(c) and 197-11-340(2)(f).

In essence, Petitioners conflate the exhaustion of remedies doctrine as properly applied in *CLEAN*, 133 Wn.2d at 465 (on which the Court of Appeals relied below), with *King County's* analysis vis-à-vis the scope of judicial review based upon the contents of a notice of appeal filed in superior court. However, that is not a conflict. As evidence, the only portion of *King County* speaking to exhaustion of remedies was this Court's refusal to consider an argument that was never properly "raised before the Board." *King County*, 122 Wn.2d at 669. Where the validity of an ordinance under the GMA is not challenged before the lower body (in that case the boundary review board, here the City), judicial review is precluded. *Id.* at 668-669.

⁴⁹ CP 1094-1095, 1552, 2424. *See also* CP 1128 (notice of change of date of public hearing).

Consequently, *King County* supports the Opinion's waiver analysis and negates any basis for review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Petitioners' mischaracterization of the preservation and exhaustion principle as applying only to whether SEPA-related arguments were raised during judicial review is unsupported. *See* Pet. at 18-20. If Petitioners had wanted to challenge the SEPA determination, then an appeal should have been filed consistent with their rights explained in the notice—to submit comments and appeal the DNS. Petitioners failed to preserve their rights under SEPA, therefore, this issue was waived. *Ellensburg Cement Products, Inc. v. Kittitas County*, 179 Wn.2d 737, 743-745, 317 P.3d 1037 (2014); and *CLEAN*, 133 Wn.2d at 464-465.

This exhaustion of local remedies to avoid waiver is well-settled by this Court, and nothing about Petitioners' waiver of the issue during City review of the Master Plan warrants reconsideration, particularly as no changes in the factual record occurred between the notice of application and SEPA

determination and the issuance of the DNS.⁵⁰ The Opinion correctly held that Petitioners waived their SEPA claim, and that Petitioners conceded they did not appeal the City's DNS to City Council. *English Farm*, slip op. 16.

Petitioners' claims notwithstanding, lower courts have rightly rejected their claim that Master Plan Condition of Approval 2 results in serial SEPA review. *English Farm*, slip op. 15. Nothing in the Petition identifies precedent with which the Opinion conflicts. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). HP has maintained from the outset that it will exercise its discretion in choosing its design, materials, height, and a myriad of other aspects of each phase of development. Making these choices after master planning is a sanctioned land use process, where future compliance is subject to the site plan review process. *KS Tacoma Holdings, LLC v. Shorelines Hearings Board*, 166 Wn.App. 117,

_

⁵⁰ Petitioners' arguments before the Court of Appeals focused on unsupported claims that the facts had substantially changed in the record after the DNS notice issued. Opening Brief COA, p. 28.

134, 272 P.3d 876 (2012), *rev den*, 174 Wn.2d 1007, 278 P.3d 1112 (2012). HP's SEPA response is exactly what one would expect at this stage of environmental review, occurring at the earliest time for the affected property, but ahead of any of HP's aesthetic decision making that will occur at site plan submittal.⁵¹ *Id.* Master Plan Condition 2 was well-placed to address this issue and the Court of Appeals correctly understood SEPA review would continue. *English Farm*, slip op. 15.

Where the law is settled that exhaustion of local remedies is a prerequisite to judicial review, and where future SEPA compliance is required under law and the Master Plan's conditions of approval, the Court should deny this Petition.

4. Petitioners fail to establish an issue of substantial public interest because the City's master planning process and code implementation affects only a small portion of property in eastern Vancouver.

Review may be warranted "when a petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined" by this

⁵¹ More fully argued at CP-2023, 2027-2028.

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